# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

| •                                  | Deputy                      |
|------------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Defendant and Appellant.           | Frederick A. Uhineri Clerk  |
| AHKIN R. MILLS,                    | SEP 2 9 2011                |
| vs.                                |                             |
| Plaintiff and Respondent,          | ) NO: S191934 SUPREME COURT |
| PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, | ) ) SUPREME COURT           |
|                                    |                             |

## OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

## INTRODUCTION TO THE BRIEF

## A. The Issue on Review.

This court granted review of the following issue:

Did the trial court err by instructing the jury to accept a conclusive presumption that defendant was legally sane for purposes of the guilt phase of the trial?

Resolution of that issue requires consideration of two subsidiary questions:

- (1) Did the instruction violate the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process and jury trial -- as interpreted in cases such as *Sandstrom* v. *Montana* (1979) 442 U.S. 510 ("*Sandstrom*") -- because a reasonable juror may have interpreted the instruction as creating a constitutionally-prohibited presumption as to premeditation, deliberation, and/or malice, and/or because a reasonable juror might have interpreted the instruction as unconstitutionally "shifting the burden" as to those elements?
- (2) Did the instruction violate California case authority -- including *People* v. *Anderson* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 351 -- holding that jurors should not be instructed on principles of law unnecessary to the jury's resolution of the factual issues before it, and holding further that a trial court must define for the jury statutory terms which have a "technical meaning peculiar to the law"?

## B. The Issue in Procedural Context.

Four cases create an unusual procedural conundrum. On July 3, 2000, this court decided *People* v. *Coddington* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 529 ("*Coddington*"), overruled on other grounds in *Price* v. *Superior Court* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1046. This court in *Coddington* rejected a claim of error in the use of the "conclusive presumption of sanity" language of Penal Code section 1026 at the guilt phase. Among the court's bases for so ruling were that the defense had not objected to the instruction or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/ All code references will be to the California Penal Code, unless otherwise noted.

sought its modification, that the language was a "correct statement of law," and that jurors were unlikely to be confused by the instruction in light of the other instructions and the arguments to the jury. *Coddington* neither referred to the United States Constitution nor discussed United States Supreme Court cases regarding "presumptions."

Six weeks later, the Ninth Circuit decided *Patterson* v. *Gomez* (9th Cir. 2000) 223 F.3d 959 ("*Patterson*"). The Ninth Circuit concluded that it had violated the Due Process Clause to instruct on a "presumption of sanity" at the guilt phase of a California murder trial, in which the defendant had relied upon evidence of mental disease or defect to resist jury findings of premeditation, deliberation, and malice. *Patterson* made no reference to *Coddington*.

Six years later, the Ninth Circuit in *Stark* v. *Hickman* (9th Cir. 2006) 455 F.3d 1070 ("*Stark*") considered the implications of *Coddington* to the *Patterson* holding. *Stark* concluded that *Coddington* did not undermine *Patterson* because this court in *Coddington* had not addressed the Due Process Clause issue decided in *Patterson*.

Five years thereafter, on June 8, 2011, this court granted review in Mr. Mills's case, after the Court of Appeal in an unpublished opinion had relied in substantial part on *Coddington* in finding no error in having given a "conclusive presumption of sanity" instruction over defense objection at the guilt phase.

On August 25, 2011, this court decided *People* v. *Blacksher* (2011)

\_\_\_\_ Cal.4th \_\_\_\_, 2011 Cal LEXIS 2011 ("*Blacksher*"). The court in *Blacksher* relied on *Coddington* in again rejecting a claim of error in having instructed on a "conclusive presumption of sanity" at the guilt phase of a bifurcated trial. Although the court in *Blacksher* referred to

the Due Process Clause, it did not discuss United States Supreme Court cases interpreting "presumptions." While not expressly referring to *Patterson* or *Stark*, the court noted in *Blacksher* that it was "neither persuaded nor bound" by cases from the federal Courts of Appeals.

Thus do two decisions of this court appear to be generally against Mr. Mills, at least in *dictum*. Respondent is in the enviable position of being able to cite *Coddington* and *Blacksher*.

## C. Summary of Mr. Mills's Position.

Mr. Mills respectfully submits that he should prevail, notwithstanding Coddington and Blacksher. Neither Coddington nor Blacksher involved an objection to the challenged instruction in the trial court, while Mr. Mills's counsel specifically objected to the instruction under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. Neither Coddington nor Blacksher involved a situation in which the trial court had refused to define for the jury the term "legally sane" which the jury was told was to be "conclusively presumed," as occurred in Mr. Mills's case. In short, Mr. Mills's case presents a fully preserved issue, where the defendants in Coddington and Blacksher did not.

Mr. Mills will rely on three lines of jurisprudence, one from the United States Supreme Court and two from this court. The line of authority from the United States Supreme Court concerns the federal constitutional ban against "presumptions" bearing on an element of the charged offense. Under that line of authority, an instructional presumption is unconstitutional when the instruction is such that a reasonable juror may interpret it as creating a presumption as to an element of an offense or as shifting the burden on that element of the defense.

The primary line of California authority is that which prohibits instructions on matters of no relevance to the jury's resolution of the issues before it. The secondary line of California authority is that dealing with instructions containing terms with a "technical meaning particular to the law."

Mr. Mills will begin with a summary of the procedural events in the trial court and Court of Appeal, and a summary of the trial evidence. He will argue the federal constitutional issues in Argument I, and he will present the state law issues in Argument II. Argument I will include a historical look at Penal Code section 1026, in which the "conclusive presumption of sanity" language appears, to demonstrate that the genesis and effect of the language was solely procedural.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At the guilt phase of a bifurcated guilt-sanity trial, Mr. Mills was convicted by a jury of first degree murder, with a firearm discharge finding. The jury subsequently found Mr. Mills to have been sane at the time of the offense. He is serving an effective term of fifty-years-to-life.

Mr. Mills was charged by an Information filed December 22, 2006. 2CT 291.<sup>2</sup> On December 17, 2008, Mr. Mills was allowed to add a plea of not-guilty-by-reason-of-insanity. 2CT 417, 418.

Jury trial commenced on April 8, 2009, and the guilt verdict and finding were returned on May 12, 2009. 2CT 437; 3CT 604, 605. The sanity phase commenced on May 18, 2009, and the sanity finding was returned on May 20, 2009. 3CT 617, 647, 648.

On August 12, 2009, Mr. Mills was sentenced. 3CT 657, 659. Notice of Appeal was timely filed August 31, 2009. 3CT 686.

The opinion of the California Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Two, was filed on January 30, 2011. This court granted review on June 11, 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/ Clerk's Transcript.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. <u>Introduction and Overview</u>.

Ahkin Mills spent the early months of 2005 in the throes of a delusional disorder with a range of paranoid, persecutory, and idiosyncratic beliefs. Those beliefs were focused on perceived threats from various groups and individuals, including a street gang and one of its leaders. That fear prompted Mr. Mills to move himself and his wife to Rodeo, where Mr. Mills's mental illness remained severe.

Ultimately, Mr. Mills went to the Emeryville Train Station to take a train to Fresno, to lure his pursuers away from his wife and cousin. At the station, Mr. Mills formed a belief a man was there to kill him. In the belief the man was drawing a weapon, Mr. Mills shot the man multiple times, reloading in the process. When the Emeryville police arrived, Mr. Mills went to the ground and surrendered himself.

The trial had two focuses: the distinction between premeditated and deliberate murder and second degree murder, and the distinction between murder and manslaughter based on "imperfect self-defense. The defense at the guilt phase called a psychologist to describe Mr. Mills's mental disease and its characteristics, and the prosecution opted not to call an alienist at the guilt phase.

## B. The Emeryville Amtrak Station Witnesses.

## 1. Rasheed Bashir, the Railway Clerk.

Mr. Bashir saw Mr. Mills on the platform, "bouncing up and down" as if listening to a Walkman. 6RT 591, 606. Mr. Mills later approached and asked about the 2:00 p.m. train to Fresno, and Mr. Bashir told him the next train was at 6:00 p.m. and he could exchange his ticket.

6RT 596, 608. Mr. Mills handed Mr. Bashir a ticket for the 1:15 p.m. train, and Mr. Bashir issued a new ticket. 6RT 596-597.

For 30 to 45 seconds, Mr. Mills stared into space, without saying anything. 6RT 610. Mr. Mills then returned to the platform and "paced up and down." 6RT 599, 610.

## 2. <u>Sal Fuerstenberg, Who Was on the Train Platform.</u>

Mr. Fuerstenberg heard Mr. Mills yell at a man who was seated: "You ain't getting on that train." 5RT 444-445. However, Mr. Fuerstenberg described Mr. Mills as "almost passive" and "lacking in emotion." 5RT 462.

The seated man walked inside the station, and Mr. Mills had an "almost instantaneous" and "very abrupt" change in mood. 5RT 446-448, 468. Mr. Mills bounced on the tracks, while mumbling, humming, and singing. 5RT 448, 465, 467.

Moments later, Mr. Mills walked toward the station, saying: "You got a gun, nigger? You got a gun?" 5RT 449-451, 467. Mr. Mills behavior was "a little nuts." 5RT 468.

Mr. Mills entered the station. 5RT 466-467. Within seconds, there were three sets of gunshots. 5RT 452.

## 3. <u>Linda Duhon, Who Had Been on the Platform and Inside</u> the Station.

Ms. Duhon saw Mr. Mills "jumping up and down," talking to himself, and "acting like he was crazy." 6RT 528, 531, 533, 545. He stood in front of a seated man, whom she assumed he knew. 6RT 533-534. After Ms. Duhon went inside the station, the seated man came

inside and said: "He's out there cussing me out and he act like he want to kill me." 6RT 531-533.

Mr. Mills entered the station, approached the first man, and said, "Mother fucker, you want to kill me." 6RT 536-538. After repeating that statement, he said: "Well, if you ain't got no mother fucking gun, I do." 6RT 538. Mr. Mills produced a gun, and there were gunshots. 6RT 538-539. Ms. Duhon fell and heard four or five more shots. 6RT 539-540.

## 4. <u>Matthew Altier, Who Was Inside the Station</u>.

Mr. Altier saw Mr. Mills enter the station from the platform. 6RT 562, 564. Mr. Mills was disheveled and looked "very, very scary." 6RT 584. Mr. Altier heard a shot and looked up to see Mr. Mills pointing a revolver at a man on a bench. 6RT 564-565. The man said: "Please don't shoot me again, don't shoot." 6RT 565. Mr. Mills continued shooting. 6RT 567-568.

## 5. Rasheed Bashir's Observations of the Shooting.

Mr. Bashir saw Mr. Mills run into the station and begin yelling. 6RT 600, 611-612. Mr. Bashir heard three or four gunshots and saw a seated man slump. 6RT 601, 613. After 10 to 15 seconds, Mr. Bashir heard three or four more gunshots. 6RT 603-604. He ran outside, hearing another three or four shots. 6RT 604.

## C. <u>The Arresting Officers</u>.

Officer Davis entered the station and saw Mr. Mills go down into a prone position, with a handgun in his right hand. 5RT 481, 492.

When Officer Davis asked whether there were "more shooters," Mr. Mills answered: "I'm the only shooter, it's me." 5RT 481-482.

Officer Whitaker saw Mr. Mills face down, with his hands spread and a gun near his hand. 5RT 502-503. Mr. Mills repeated, "I'm the shooter," four or five times. 5RT 503, 505, 516. After Officer Whitaker had handcuffed Mr. Mills, and as she was searching him, he said: "Oh, that feels good." 5RT 504-505. He subsequently asked several times: "Can I have my cigarette to relieve my stress?" 5RT 506.

#### D. Evidence at the Scene.

Nine .357 cartridge casings, and eleven .357 cartridges, were found on the floor of the Amtrak station. Two casings and two cartridges were recovered from the revolver. 6RT 713-714; Exhibit 16, pages 26, 68, 75, 79-82, 94, and Exhibit G. Mr. Mills's backpack, a wallet, and a split .357 ammunition box were also found. See, Exhibit 16, pages 9, 15-18, 78, 83-84, 87-89, 93-103, 108-110, and 114.

## E. Mr. Mills's Statements to Police at the Amtrak Station.

In the police car, Mr. Mills was "lifting up" and looking around quickly; he was sweating; and his eyes were glassy. 6RT 685-686. His speech was rambling, and he spoke in disjointed sentences. 6RT 698-699. When asked whether the temperature in the car was cool enough, Mr. Mills asked to be taken to "the crazy house." 6RT 699-700.

Mr. Mills repeatedly said: "Put me in a padded room by myself. I don't want to kill anyone else." 6RT 690. He stated: "People kept coming up on me. Every time the trains came, there would be five or six at a time." 6RT 690. Mr. Mills said: "You asked some people, that guy said he had a gun. I think I know what I did. The devil made me do it."

6RT 691-692. At one point, Mr. Mills asked Detective Johnson "to ask them people, that guy said he had a gun, he came up on me." 6RT 700.

Mr. Mills calmed down and responded to questions. 6RT 686-689, 700-701. He was continuously looking out both side windows. 6RT 692. When Mr. Mills saw news cameras, he stated: "Don't let them know the names of my family, I feel they are in danger. I don't want them to be hurt." 6RT 693. Mr. Mills said: "Write this down. I knew I had a chemical imbalance, so I took some thizzle" (Ecstasy). "I took an E-pill, Ecstasy." 6RT 696.

## F. Mr. Mills's Telephone Call to His Wife.

The jury heard a recording of a telephone call on April 22, 2005, at 4:16 a.m. 6RT 614. Mr. Mills repeatedly stated something to the effect of "they tried to kill me today at the train station." Ex. 17A, at pages 1, 4, 6, 8, 13, 21. He also expressed multiple times that "a bunch of them" had been "everywhere" and "coming" at him. *Id.*, at pages 7, 13, 18. He made reference to "a war going on." *Id.*, at page 4.

Mr. Mills advised his wife to "get out of Sacramento" and to "remember what I told you about all the names." *Id.*, at page 2. Mr. Mills also admonished his wife not to "trust nobody" (*id.*, at page 6), to "stay on guard" (*id.*, at page 7), not to "walk nowhere" (*id.*, at page 8), to change both door locks (*id.*, at page 18), to "protect [her]self" (*id.*, at page 19), "never to be at home by [her]self" (*ibid.*), to "lock her door" (*ibid.*), and to purchase "one of those metal doors" with a "double bolt" lock (*id.*, at page 20).

Mr. Mills told his wife to "call all those dudes" in order that "people know what's going on because somebody did get killed today," and "it was not me." *Id.*, at page 2. He later stated: "They running,

they scared mother fuckers. They don't know what's going on." *Id.*, at page 20.

Mr. Mills also made multiple references to being crazy, to the "crazy home" or "crazy house," to not being in his "right mind," to his medication, to his "chemical imbalance," and to "5150." *Id.*, at pages 1, 5, 6, 8, 9, 15, 16. He said: "I feel out of my body." *Id.*, at page 17. He stated that he did not want to "be locked up for life." *Id.*, at page 2.

Several times Mr. Mills asked Mrs. Mills to remember the "stuff" he had been telling her "about all the dudes and stuff" and "about all that shit about the people talking to me," which was going to "help [him] out" and "help [him] get out of jail." *Id.*, at pages 2, 3. He later admonished Mrs. Mills: "You got to be . . . truthful with them." *Id.*, at page 16.

#### G. The Forensic Evidence.

The decedent had sustained seven gunshot entry wounds, with five to the upper back. 6RT 624, 629, 635. There were also gunshot wounds to the back left thigh and right torso. 6RT 625-626, 631-632.

The .357-Magnum revolver would hold six rounds, but the cylinder contained only two casings and two cartridges. 6RT 705, 707, 713. Mr. Mills's blood showed evidence of marijuana use, but no Ecstasy was detected. 8RT 1072-1074.

## H. The Robbery Earlier that Day in Sacramento.

Kinh Hang owned O'Henry Donuts and Coffee. 8RT 1047, 1049. On April 21, 2005, Mr. Hang and his wife arrived at the shop at 1:00 a.m. 8RT 1047-1048. Mr. Mills tried to enter at 3:00 or 4:00 a.m., before they were open. 8RT 1049, 1063.

At 4:00 a.m., Mr. Hang went out to move his car, and when he returned, he invited Mr. Mills inside. 8RT 1050-1052. Mr. Mills said he was waiting for a friend and wanted to leave the country. 8RT 1052, 1058. Mr. Mills ate a doughnut but then produced a gun. 8RT 1058.

Mr. Mills spoke in a calm voice and said he wanted to get out of town. 8RT 1070. He pointed the gun at Mr. Hang's wife and said: "Give me the money or I will kill your wife." 8RT 1053-1054. Mr. Hang gave him \$3.00. 8RT 1054, 1068. Mr. Mills asked for Mr. Hang's car keys. 8RT 1056-1057. Mr. Hang had \$5000 in his car. 8RT 1059-1060. The car was recovered in the Bay Area. 8RT 1058.

#### I. Mr. Mills's Cousin.

Telitha Epps was Mr. Mills's cousin, and Mr. Mills and his wife Toni lived with Ms. Epps in Rodeo. 6RT 642. Mr. Mills talked about being in trouble in Merced and people being after him. 6RT 650. He said billboards spoke to him and the FBI was after him. 6RT 651. He told her he had cheated on his wife with a woman whose ex-boyfriend was a gang member, and they were coming after him. 6RT 652.

Early on the morning of April 21, 2005, Mr. Mills arrived home after being "missing" for a couple of days. 6RT 644-645. He was frantic, and she could barely understand what he was saying. 6RT 645. He was waving a black gun. 6RT 646-649. He said he had hitchhiked from Sacramento and had not slept for days. 6RT 650, 654. Ms. Epps put the gun on top of a kitchen cabinet. 6RT 651.

Ms. Epps took Mrs. Mills to work, and when she returned, Mr. Mills said: "I got to get out of here." 6RT 654. He stated: "I don't want to bring any harm to you or Toni. I know they're still after me."

6RT 655. Mr. Mills wanted to go to the train station. 6RT 655. His demeanor was "very strange, nervous, scared, shaking." 6RT 657-658.

After dropping Mr. Mills at the station, Ms. Epps called Mrs. Mills at work, and Mrs. Mills asked to be driven to the station. 6RT 658. Ms. Epps remained in the vehicle while Ms. Mills went inside briefly. 6RT 659.

#### J. Mr. Mills's Wife.

Toni Mills met Mr. Mills at church in 1992. 8RT 994-995. After they married, they lived in Merced. 8RT 995.

Mr. Mills formed a belief that someone was after them. 8RT 996-997. Tyrone Johnston was in a gang and was "not a nice person." 8RT 998-999. On occasion, Mr. Mills had told her he was with Tyrone. 8RT 1018-1019. Mr. Mills later said Tyrone was telling people Mr. Mills was a snitch. 8RT 999. Mr. Mills believed that the FBI was after him, and that Tyrone was working with "a bad cop or something" to get Mr. Mills. 8RT 1000.

Mr. Mills also thought other people were after him. 8RT 1000-1001. Mr. Mills had dated a girl with a connection to a record label, and her boyfriend found out and was after him. 8RT 1001.

In addition, Mr. Mills said he had an altercation with a man whom Mr. Mills believed had a gun. This was someone with whom he had an altercation in the past. 8RT 1002.

Mr. Mills had begun staying away from home. He said he could not come home because people were following him. 8RT 1003-1004.

One night in Merced, a man came to the door and asked for Mr. Mills. The man tried to open the door, and they called police. 8RT 1002-1003.

That same night, Mr. Mills said: "We got to go." 8RT 1024-1025. When they left Merced, Mr. Mills was frantic and scared. 8RT 1023.

While in Rodeo, Mr. Mills told his wife he had been in the car thinking about someone, when the radio mentioned that person's name. 8RT 1004. Another time he intended to cash a check, and when a commercial came on for Bank of America, Mr. Mills said: "See, I told you they're listening. They're trying to tell me which bank to go to." 8RT 1004.

Mr. Mills said he thought the FBI was in a Fed Ex truck. 8RT 1005. He once said the FBI was connected to the telephone wires. 8RT 1023. Mrs. Mills believed Mr. Mills was on drugs. 8RT 1005.

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