# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S191934

v.

AHKIN R. MILLS,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT

9

OCT 81 2011

Frederick K. Onlinon Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A125969 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. C154217 The Honorable Larry J. Goodman, Judge

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General
GERALD A. ENGLER
Senior Assistant Attorney General
RENE A. CHACON
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
JOAN KILLEEN
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 111679

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Legislature has established that a defendant is conclusively presumed sane at the guilt phase of trial. (§§ 1016, 1026, subd. (a).) If he enters a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity, he must prove his insanity by a preponderance of the evidence at a separate sanity trial. (§§ 25, subd. (b), 1026, subd. (a).) The Legislature also abolished the defense of diminished capacity. (§§ 25, subd. (a), 28, subds. (a), (b).) If a defendant wishes to challenge his capacity to form a particular mental state, he must do so at the separate sanity trial. (§§ 25, subd. (b), 28, subd. (c).) This Court has held that a trial court may instruct a jury at the guilt phase of trial that a defendant is conclusively presumed sane at the time of the crime.

(People v. Blacksher, supra, 52 Cal.4th at pp. 831-832; People v. Coddington, supra, 23 Cal.4th at pp. 584-585.) The Court of Appeal upheld the same instruction here, citing Clark v. Arizona, supra, 548 U.S. 735, which held that states may, consistent with due process, restrict evidence bearing on sanity to the sanity phase of a trial, where the defendant bears the burden of proof. (Id. at pp. 765-779.) An instruction at the guilt trial that a defendant is presumed sane implements Clark's holding and does not violate due process.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE DUE PROCESS BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY AT THE GUILT PHASE THAT APPELLANT WAS CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED SANE

The trial court correctly instructed the jury at the guilt phase of trial that appellant was conclusively presumed sane. Because in a bifurcated trial sanity could be decided only after a conviction of crime, the instruction correctly allocated the sanity issue to the subsequent proceeding. The trial court's additional instructions on the People's burden of proof and the elements of first degree murder made clear that the jury could consider appellant's mental state evidence on the element of deliberation and premeditation. This forecloses appellant's argument that the challenged instruction violated his right to due process.

### A. Rules Governing the Issue of Sanity

Among the pleas a defendant may enter are not guilty and not guilty by reason of insanity. (§ 1016.) If the defendant enters both pleas, the guilt trial is held first, followed, if necessary, by the sanity trial. (§ 1026, subd. (a); *People v. Hernandez* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 512, 520.) The defendant is conclusively presumed sane at the guilt phase of trial. (§§ 1016, 1026, subd. (a); *Hernandez, supra,* at p. 520; *People v. Dobson* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 1422, 1430.) In that phase, "the defendant is tried on his or

her factual guilt without reference to the insanity plea." (*Dobson, supra*, at p. 1431.) At the sanity trial, the defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence "that he or she was incapable of knowing or understanding the nature and quality of his or her act and of distinguishing right from wrong at the time of the commission of the offense." (§ 25, subd. (b); see *Hernandez, supra*, at pp. 520-521.)<sup>4</sup> "California follows the test of insanity laid down in *M'Naghten's Case* (1843) 8 Eng.Rep. 718." (*People v. Mejia-Lenares* (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 1437, 1447.)<sup>5</sup>

In 1981, the Legislature abolished the defense of diminished capacity, and in 1982 the voters agreed by statutory initiative. (§§ 25, subd. (a), 28, subds. (a), (b); *People v. Mejia-Lenares, supra,* 135 Cal.App.4th at p. 1450.) If a defendant wishes to challenge his capacity to form a particular mental state, he must do so at the separate sanity trial. (§§ 25, subd. (b), 28, subd. (c); *People v. Mejia-Lenares, supra,* at p. 1456.) "Capacity," as used in the *M'Naghten* rule, "is understood to mean the ability to form a certain state of mind or motive, understand or evaluate one's actions, or control them." (*Clark v. Arizona, supra,* 548 U.S. at p. 749, fn. 7.)

"A successful insanity plea relieves the defendant of all criminal responsibility." (*People v. Dobson, supra,* 161 Cal.App.4th at p. 1432.) "The plea of insanity is thus necessarily one of 'concession and avoidance.' [Citation.] 'Commission of the overt act is conceded' but punishment is avoided 'upon the sole ground that at the time the overt act was committed

The test is disjunctive, despite the conjunctive in the literal wording. (*People v. Skinner* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 765, 769.)

The court in *M'Naghten's Case* also stated, "[T]he jurors ought to be told in all cases that every man is to be presumed to be sane, and to possess a sufficient degree of reason to be responsible for his crimes, until the contrary be proved to their satisfaction . . . ." (*Leland v. Oregon* (1952) 343 U.S. 790, 796.)

the defendant was [insane].' [Citation.]" (People v. Hernandez, supra,, 22 Cal.4th at p. 521.)

"Although guilt and sanity are separate issues, the evidence as to each may be overlapping. Thus, at the guilt phase, a defendant may present evidence to show that he or she lacked the mental state required to commit the charged crime. [Citation.] A finding of such mental state does not foreclose a finding of insanity." (*People v. Hernandez, supra,* 22 Cal.4th at p. 520.) "Insanity is a plea raising an *affirmative defense* to a criminal charge, although one that does not negative an element of the offense." (*Id.* at p. 522.) "[T]he issue at the insanity trial is not whether in fact the defendant has committed the act but whether or not he should be punished.' [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*)

"It has long been the rule in California that 'insanity may not be used as a basis for extending leniency. It is either a complete defense, or none at all. There is no *degree* of insanity which may be established to affect the degree of crime.' [Citation.] Thus, "there is no degree of insanity sufficient to acquit of murder but not of manslaughter." [Citation.]" (*People v. Mejia-Lenares, supra*, 135 Cal.App.4th at p. 1447.)

# B. In *Coddington* and *Blacksher* this Court Upheld an Instruction That a Defendant is Conclusively Presumed Sane

In *People v. Coddington, supra*, 23 Cal.4th 529, this Court considered a trial court's instruction to prospective jurors "that during the guilt phase of the trial the defendant was to be conclusively presumed to be sane at the time of the crime." (*Id.* at p. 584.) "Although that instruction correctly states the law [citations], appellant contends that this was error which prejudicially undermined his guilt phase defense of lack of premeditation of the murders." (*Ibid.*) The defendant did not object to the instruction or seek modification. He conceded the jury had been instructed "that if the

defendant did not premeditate because of mental illness or defect, he was not guilty of first degree murder." (Ibid.) The Court rejected the contention that the jury "would conclude that the presumption-of-sanity instruction meant that the evidence of his odd behavior prior to the killings could not be considered." (Ibid.) The Court distinguished the instruction given in People v. Burton (1971) 6 Cal.3d 375, 390 (disapproved on other grounds in People v. Lessie (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1152, 1156), and noted both the prosecutor and defense counsel had argued the presence or absence of mental disease during their guilt phase closing arguments. (Ibid.) 6 "The guilt phase instructions given shortly thereafter expressly advised the jury that premeditation and deliberation were elements of first degree murder and that evidence that the defendant suffered from a mental illness or defect could be considered in determining if those mental states were present." (Id. at p. 585.) The Court concluded, "There was no possibility of confusion arising from the instruction of which appellant complains here." (Ibid.)

In *People v. Blacksher, supra*, 52 Cal.4th 769, this Court found the trial court "properly instructed the jury that: 'In the guilt trial or phase of this case, the defendant is conclusively presumed to have been sane at the time [] the offenses . . . are alleged to have been committed.'" (*Id.* at p. 831.) The defendant had claimed the trial court's instruction on the presumption of sanity, and failure to give a requested pinpoint instruction,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In addition to considering a wholly different instruction (*People v. Coddington, supra,* 23 Cal.4th at p. 584 & fn. 23), the Court in *People v. Burton, supra,* 6 Cal.3d at p. 390, addressed a defense of diminished capacity, which it found was potentially affected by the instruction at issue. No such conflict arises here. Moreover, the Court found it "need not now decide whether such a conflict would be fatal." (*Id.* at p. 390.) Accordingly, the comment that the instructions at issue, which were not given here in any case, were *potentially* in conflict is dictum.

"hampered his mental illness defense and lowered the prosecution's burden of proof in violation of his due process rights." (*Ibid.*) He argued the court's instruction led the jury to believe it could not consider whether his mental illness precluded him from forming the intent to commit murder. (*Ibid.*)

The Court noted the defendant had not objected to the instruction or requested a further definition of sanity. (*People v. Blacksher, supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 831.) It rejected the argument that the "instruction effectively negated the defense that because of his mental illness he could not form the mental state required for murder." (*Ibid.*) The jury had been given CALJIC No. 3.32, "which is the standard instruction for this very defense." (*Blacksher, supra,* at p. 831.) The Court further observed it had "rejected an identical argument" in *People v. Coddington, supra,* 23 Cal.4th 529, 584-585, and it was "neither persuaded nor bound by any contrary decision of the lower federal courts." (*Blacksher, supra,* at p. 831.)

The Court further found the defendant's proposed pinpoint instruction did not correctly state the law and was "confusing to the point of near incomprehensibility." (*People v. Blacksher, supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 832.)

Unlike CALJIC No. 3.32, the proposed instruction would have required the jury to *presume* that defendant's mental illness negated the mental state required for first degree murder if it was not convinced that he did not act under the influence of that mental illness. The mere fact that defendant acted under the influence of mental illness does not necessarily mean he lacked the required mental state. The question, as it is properly phrased in CALJIC No. 3.32, is "whether the defendant actually formed the required specific intent." This question is considered in the context of any evidence regarding mental illness. Defendant's proposed instruction would, in effect, have resurrected the defense of diminished capacity, a defense this state has long rejected. [Citation.]

(People v. Blacksher, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 832.)

Appellant contends this Court's rulings in *Coddington* and *Blacksher* do not resolve the issue here because the defendants in those cases did not object to the instruction or request a definition of sanity and because this Court did not consider the due process argument. His contentions are without merit.

In *People v. Coddington, supra,* 23 Cal.4th at pp. 584-585, this Court considered and rejected the defendant's claim on the merits, notwithstanding his failure to object or request clarification. Appellant does not explain how a separate analysis under the due process clause would have produced a different outcome in that case. In *People v. Blacksher, supra,* 52 Cal.4th at pp. 831-832, this Court again considered and rejected the defendant's claim on the merits despite his failure to object or request a definition of sanity. In *Blacksher,* the defendant specifically argued the instruction violated his right to due process. (*Id.* at p. 831.) The Court stated it had "rejected an identical argument" in *Coddington.* (*Blacksher, supra,* at p. 831.) Accordingly, not only did the Court reject the claim on the merits in both cases, it rejected it on due process grounds.

In any event, as we explain below, the guilt phase instruction that a defendant is conclusively presumed sane does not violate due process. It is fully consistent with California's allocation of the burden of proof on guilt and sanity, an allocation that was upheld in *Clark v. Arizona, supra*, 548 U.S. 735.

# C. Clark v. Arizona is in Accord with Coddington and Blacksher

In Clark v. Arizona, supra, 548 U.S. 735 (Clark), the Supreme Court considered the holding of the Arizona court in State v. Mott (1997) 187 Ariz. 536, 931 P.2d 1046, "that testimony of a professional psychologist or psychiatrist about a defendant's mental incapacity owing to mental disease or defect was admissible, and could be considered, only for its bearing on

an insanity defense; such evidence could not be considered on the element of *mens rea*, that is, what the State must show about a defendant's mental state (such as intent or understanding) when he performed the act charged against him." (*Clark, supra,* at pp. 756-757.)

The high court initially distinguished the categories of evidence with a potential bearing on mens rea. First, there was "observation evidence' in the everyday sense, testimony from those who observed what Clark did and heard what he said; this category would also include testimony that an expert witness might give about Clark's tendency to think in a certain way and his behavioral characteristics." (Clark, supra, 548 U.S. at p. 757.) Second, there was "mental-disease evidence' in the form of opinion testimony that Clark suffered from a mental disease with features described by the witness." (Id. at p. 758.) Third, there was "capacity evidence" about a defendant's capacity for cognition and moral judgment (and ultimately also his capacity to form mens rea)." (Ibid.) Arizona did not restrict the first category of "observation evidence" on the issue of mens rea. (Id. at p. 760.) "Thus, only opinion testimony going to mental defect or disease, and its effect on the cognitive or moral capacities on which sanity depends under the Arizona rule, is restricted." (*Ibid.*) The issue before the court was "the challenge to Mott on due process grounds, comprising objections to limits on the use of mental-disease and capacity evidence." (*Id.* at p. 762.)

The court identified the factors involved: "Clark's argument that the *Mott* rule violates the Fourteenth Amendment guarantee of due process turns on the application of the presumption of innocence in criminal cases, the presumption of sanity, and the principle that a criminal defendant is entitled to present relevant and favorable evidence on an element of the offense charged against him." (*Clark, supra,* 548 U.S. at p. 765.)

"The first presumption is that a defendant is innocent unless and until the government proves beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the offense charged, [citations], including the mental element or *mens rea*."

(Clark, supra, 548 U.S. at p. 766.) "As applied to mens rea (and every other element), the force of the presumption of innocence is measured by the force of the showing needed to overcome it, which is proof beyond a reasonable doubt that a defendant's state of mind was in fact what the charge states." (Ibid.)

"The presumption of sanity is equally universal in some variety or other, being (at least) a presumption that a defendant has the capacity to form the *mens rea* necessary for a verdict of guilt and the consequent criminal responsibility." (*Clark, supra,* 548 U.S. at p. 766; see *Leland v. Oregon, supra,* 343 U.S. at p. 799 ["In all English-speaking courts, the accused is obliged to introduce proof if he would overcome the presumption of sanity."].)

This presumption dispenses with a requirement on the government's part to include as an element of every criminal charge an allegation that the defendant had such a capacity. The force of this presumption, like the presumption of innocence, is measured by the quantum of evidence necessary to overcome it; unlike the presumption of innocence, however, the force of the presumption of sanity varies across the many state and federal jurisdictions, and prior law has recognized considerable leeway on the part of the legislative branch in defining the presumption's strength through the kind of evidence and degree of persuasiveness necessary to overcome it, [citation].

(Clark, supra, 548 U.S. at pp. 766-767, footnotes omitted.) The court added, "Although a desired evidentiary use is restricted, that is not equivalent to a Sandstrom presumption. See Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 514-524 (1979) (due process forbids use of presumption that relieves the prosecution of burden of proving mental state by inference of

intent from an act)." (Clark, supra, at p. 767, fn. 36, parallel citations omitted.)

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